# 2010-CA-01529 T

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Linda W. Lochridge, Appellant;
- 2. Jim Waide, Attorney for Appellant;
- 3. Waide & Associates, P.A., Attorneys for Appellant;
- 4. Pioneer Health Services of Monroe County, Inc., Appellee;
- 5. J. Tucker Mitchell, Attorney for Appellee; and
- 6. Keely R. McNulty, Attorney for Appellee.

This the 4th day of May, 2011.

JIM WANDE

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the lower court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Pioneer Health Services of Monroe County, Inc. when there were genuine issues of material fact.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 2008, Linda W. Lochridge sued Pioneer Health Services of Monroe County, Inc. (hereinafter "Pioneer") to recover actual and punitive damages for malicious prosecution and abuse of process. (R. 13-17). The abuse of process claim was dismissed by the lower court. (R. 2084). On March 31, 2010, Pioneer filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to Lochridge's claim for malicious prosecution. (R. 28-1738). On August 31, 2010, the lower court granted Pioneer's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 2089-2093). On September 17, 2010, the lower court entered its Final Judgment of Dismissal. (R. 2094-2095). On September 21, 2010, Lochridge timely filed her Notice of Appeal. (R. 2096-2097).

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Linda Lochridge was employed for over five (5) years as a registered nurse in the Garden Suites Assisted Living Facility, which is a part of Pioneer's hospital facility in Aberdeen, Mississippi. (R. 105, 54). In approximately 2005, Pioneer's administrator, Steve Fontaine, named Lochridge supervisor of the assisted living unit. (R. 1940-1941, 108). According to Susan Grimes, Director of Assisted Living for Pioneer, Lochridge had "exemplary work standards..." and was a "great employee." (R. 56-57). Lochridge cared about her patients, advocated for the patients and their families, and worked without pay when necessary. (R. 56-57). Lochridge even did housekeeping, sometimes vacuuming and mopping. (R. 80). The undisputed facts in the case demonstrate that Lochridge cared deeply about the facility's patients and families and would do "whatever needed doing" around the facility. (R. 1953, 1964, 1995, 2005, 77).

The person who was employed as director of the assisted living facility prior to Susan Grimes informed Lochridge "that there was no extra money for assisted living." (R. 120). Lochridge was told that Pioneer did not have money for some items which Lochridge thought the residents and

employees should have, and because the administration would not buy those items or reimburse her for them, she simply bought the items herself and brought them to the facility. (R. 120). Grimes, the nurses, and the residents all knew that Lochridge bought numerous items, some quite expensive, for the facility, staff, and residents. Lochridge's purchases included everything from snacks and meals for patients who were not satisfied with provided meals, to cleaning supplies, chairs, a fax machine, a laptop computer, a metal and cloth gazebo, an electric piano, a refrigerator, patio furniture, lawn figurines, decorations for parties and holidays, a barbeque grill, assorted furniture, and many other items and supplies. (R. 80, 2013-2014, 1964, 1968-1970, 1972-1973, 2002, 2005-2006, 1987, 1992, 2028). Cindy Beasley, who was employed at the facility as a licensed practical nurse, testified, "You know, if things was needed and, like, she might request administration or whatever, and then if it was denied and we needed it, she would usually purchase it." (R. 2013-2014). Beasley went on to say that there was "no way I can remember it all, but it was a constant." (R. 2013).

On May 4, 2007, Lochridge was informed that she was being "laid off" due to restructuring at the company.<sup>1</sup> (R. 109).

After she was terminated, Eddie Ridings and Donny Stacy escorted Lochridge back to the assisted living facility, and they helped Lochridge load some of her belongings in her car. (R. 57, 110). Lochridge left behind numerous personal possessions, including bulletin boards, a refrigerator, a gazebo, patio furniture, end tables, a table fan, an electric piano, yard figurines, arts and crafts, letter racks, holiday decorations, an ornamental table, a barbeque grill, a bookcase, furniture, clocks, books, and other things. (R. 110-111).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By the time of her termination, Lochridge had been supervisor of the assisted living unit for about two (2) years. (R. 108).

That evening, Lochridge went out to eat with several nurses employed at the assisted living facility. (R. 112). Because Lochridge had left items she owned at the facility, some of the employees who were at dinner with her offered to go with her to retrieve the rest of her belongings. (R. 2024, 113, 2029). Lochridge called Grimes' cell phone and left a message that she was picking up the rest of her things. (R. 124). Lochridge had never been told that she was not allowed back in the building. (R. 74, 114). Lochridge and four or five other employees went to the assisted living facility about 9:00 p.m. (R. 110, 1967-1968).

The facility is locked all of the time, although family members and staff have keys. Lochridge's only key was to the main entrance, and she had turned in that key, along with her key to the nurses' office, at the time she was terminated. (R. 111). Ollie Burroughs and Pauline Rowe were the nurses on duty that night. (R. 1967, 1997).

Lochridge went to the back patio door and knocked. Rowe answered the knock and opened the door for Lochridge. (R. 1988-1989, 1982). After Rowe let Lochridge and her friends into the building, Lochridge informed Rowe and Burroughs that they had come to retrieve the rest of Lochridge's things. (R. 111, 1968, 1990). The nursing office inside the facility where some of Ms. Lochridge's belongings were stored was sometimes locked. Another nurse, Cindy Beasley, loaned Lochridge her key to the nursing office so that Lochridge could get her belongings from that office. (R. 120, 2018-2019, 2025).

All of the items Lochridge took were paid for by her. None were paid for by any donation she had solicited, and none of the items were anything for which she had been reimbursed by Pioneer. (R. 115).

One of the items Lochridge took from the facility was her laptop computer. Even Grimes admits that the laptop belonged to Lochridge. (R. 75). Lochridge brought her laptop from home,

and the nursing staff used programs and forms created by Lochridge's son. (R. 2015, 2020-2021, 1981).

The gazebo, which had been purchased by Lochridge, but which the hospital would not erect until shortly before her termination, was placed in Diane Staten's truck. (R. 72, 113, 116, 2030-2031). Lochridge's vehicle was loaded, and some of the other employees were given items to take, as well. (R. 116-117).

Lochridge took many of the items because she thought that Pioneer might sell them or put them in other facilities. (R. 117). Pioneer had already talked about selling some of the furniture Lochridge had bought for resident use. (R. 118).

Grimes admitted she received a voice mail from Lochridge at 11:30 p.m. in which Lochridge stated, "I just wanted to let you know I went back and got my things." (R. 61). Grimes claims that when she got the message, she immediately called Garden Suites and talked to Ollie Burroughs. Grimes claimed that Burroughs told her that Lochridge "came and got the stuff." Grimes recalls that she asked which items Lochridge removed, and also recalls that Burroughs mentioned some of the specific items which Lochridge took, including the piano, gazebo, and patio furniture. According to Grimes, Burroughs said that Lochridge took "some of everything." (R. 61).

Burroughs' version of the conversation, however, contradicts Grimes' version and raises issues of fact about a malicious intent by Grimes. Burroughs testified that Grimes called her and asked if Lochridge was still at the facility. Grimes told Burroughs that Lochridge had left a message on her answering machine that she was coming to get her stuff. Grimes asked Burroughs if Lochridge collected her things, and Burroughs responded, "Yea." (R. 1973-1974); however, there was no mention of any specific items. (R. 1982). Approximately thirty minutes later, Grimes called

Burroughs back and instructed her to post a note that staff members were to call 911 if Lochridge came to the facility. (R. 1974, 1976).

Grimes claims that Fontaine instructed her to call Lochridge and demand the items be returned and to "call the police" if they were not returned. (R. 61). Fontaine, on the other hand, swore that Grimes told him that Lochridge had gone to the hospital and taken hospital property. (R. 1944). Fontaine denied telling Grimes to call the police. (R. 1945).

Grimes testified that after talking to Fontaine, she called Lochridge and left a message for Lochridge to return whatever she had taken. (R. 61). Grimes went on to say that she did not initiate the plan to call the police, but had been "instructed" to call the police if the items were not returned. (R. 61). According to Grimes, she received a second message from Lochridge about thirty minutes later in which Lochridge stated, "Oh, yeah, by the way, and I took my fax machine." (R. 62). Grimes denies that Lochridge stated that she would return any items, and denies that Lochridge stated that the items she took were hers. (R. 62).

Grimes claims that she then called Fontaine back and told him about leaving a message for Lochridge. She testified that Fontaine told her to call the Monroe County Sheriff's Department because the facility was county-owned and to call the Aberdeen Police Department "to make them aware of the incident." (R. 62). According to Grimes, it was Fontaine's decision to involve the police. "I took my directions from Mr. Fontaine." (R. 79). Fontaine, on the other hand, denies involving law enforcement at all, and says there was only one call from Grimes. (R. 1946).

Grimes noted that she called the Aberdeen Police Department around midnight and talked to Mike Griffin. She admitted she told Officer Griffin that Lochridge went into the facility without permission and removed several items. She claims that she told him she did not know what items were taken, but she did name some of the items that Burroughs had allegedly identified. (R. 62-63).

Officer Griffin's testimony, however, was that even in the first phone call on the night of May 4, 2007, Grimes said that Lochridge had taken hospital property. (R. 53, 142).

After talking to the Aberdeen Police Department, Grimes stated that she called Lochridge again and told her that she still wanted the items returned, but that she had already called the Aberdeen Police Department. (R. 63). According to Grimes, she then called Fontaine back and reported to him what she had done. (R. 63).

Lochridge testified that when she received the first call from Grimes, she had already returned home and partially unloaded her vehicle. (R. 123-124). The message Grimes left on Lochridge's telephone was that if Lochridge did not return everything, she would have "papers made on me." (R. 121). Lochridge decided to return the items still in her vehicle because she had been threatened with "filing papers, which meant you're going to be arrested." She decided to take back what she could to try to get the matter settled. (R. 122-123). Sometime in the early morning, Lochridge called the nurse's station at the facility, told them that she would leave some items outside, and asked the nurses to bring the items indoors. (R. 122).

Grimes claimed that she later called the facility and Diane Randall answered the telephone. Grimes asked if anything had been returned and, if so, where it was. According to Grimes, Randall told her, "There's stuff thrown all over the parking lot." According to Grimes, Randall "insinuated" that papers and office supplies were strewn everywhere on the lot. (R. 64). Grimes testified that she told Randall to gather it all up and put it in the building. (R. 64).

Diane Randall's testimony about the conversation is quite different. According to Randall, there was nothing unusual about the parking lot when she arrived. (R. 2000). Grimes called Randall on the phone and told Randall that Lochridge was going to bring some items back to the facility and that she wanted Randall to go outside, pick up the items, tag them, and bring them inside. (R. 2000-

2001). When Randall went outside, Lochridge had arrived and was removing items from her vehicle and loading them on a cart. There was no mess of any kind. (R. 2001). Randall helped Lochridge finish unloading and moved the items into the facility. (R. 2001-2002).

After returning the items, Lochridge called Grimes, again getting her answering machine, and informed her that she had returned some of the items, even though they belonged to her. (R. 124). Grimes claims that the message she received at 7:00 a.m. on Saturday, May 5, 2007, from Lochridge stated, "I've returned all y'all's stuff even though it wasn't all yours." (R. 63).

On the morning of Monday, May 7, 2007, Grimes called Mike Griffin at the Aberdeen Police Department and asked what steps she needed to take next. Griffin told her to come to the station, and she did. (R. 64). Griffin took her statement and asked her for a list of the items allegedly taken. Grimes told him that she would need to go to the facility, prepare a list, and return when she was done. (R. 64).

According to Griffin, as a patrolman, his standard procedure was to take an initial report from the complaining party. He would then turn the case over to the investigator and be done with it. (R. 2055-2056).

A statement taken from Grimes was produced by the Aberdeen Police Department. Although Grimes does not agree with the exact wording, she states that Exhibit 6 to her deposition, "Statement as given by Susan Grimes," appears to be a typed version of her original oral statement. (R. 75, 98). "[B]ut, yes, it is – it – it's basically the same statement, yes." (R. 75). In that statement, Grimes admits that Lochridge informed her that she had only removed her "personal belongings." Grimes states that she called the hospital to ask what had been taken by Lochridge, and "I was told by the staff that most of the things that were taken by Ms. Lochridge did not belong to her." (R. 98). As noted above, Burroughs denied ever discussing what specifically was taken and, rather, told Grimes

8

that Lochridge had taken only her personal items. In fact, in her deposition, Burroughs was adamant on the subject. Burroughs stated, "All of the things that I know she took out was things that she brought there." (R. 1969). "Everything that I saw, that I saw, was things that I think Linda brought in herself." (R. 1972). "I don't believe none of the things that she took out of there that night was Pioneer's." (R. 1984).

The statement from the Aberdeen Police Department goes on to say that Lochridge had called Grimes at 7:00 a.m. the following morning and stated to Grimes that she "had brought everything that did not belong to her back. My staff went out and evaluated the returned items finding them to be damaged and not completely intact." (R. 98). This certainly conflicts with Grimes' deposition testimony, that Lochridge supposedly told her that she had brought back all "y'all's" stuff, even stuff that did not belong to the hospital. The statement that Grimes' staff supposedly evaluated the items, finding them to be damaged and not intact, is also disputed by Diane Randall, the person who actually helped bring the items inside the facility. Further, this statement does not mention the new allegation, that items and papers were supposedly strewn all over the parking lot.

Grimes' statement is capped with the sentence "It is my belief that the property was purposely taken and maliciously destroyed upon its return." (R. 98). That statement alone could lead a reasonable jury to find that Susan Grimes lied to the police for malicious reasons to convince them to prosecute Lochridge.

Exhibit 1 to Griffin's deposition is the "Offense/Incident Report," which Griffin completed after speaking with Grimes. (R. 85-89). Griffin would have accurately reported what Grimes told him in the report. In that report, Griffin records that Grimes called the police station and advised him that Lochridge had taken hospital property. *Id*.

Exhibit 2 to Grimes' deposition is a statement of "Facts and Circumstances" which was handwritten by Grimes and given to Investigator Quinnell Shumpert of the Aberdeen Police Department. (R. 66, 141-142). In that statement, Grimes admits that Lochridge's first communication was that she had removed "her" property. Grimes then stated that her first communication with Lochridge was when she "placed a courtesy call to subject to inform her of pending charges." (R. 98). This statement is disputed by Grimes' own deposition testimony. This statement also contains this sentence: "I instructed staff [Diane Randall] to pick up property. Approx (2) 100 gal. bags of property was thrown into yard." (R. 98). Diane Randall disputes that accusation. Again, these inconsistencies could lead a reasonable jury to find that Grimes was lying to the police and manufacturing evidence.

On Wednesday, May 9, 2007, Grimes returned to the police station with a list of items which she claimed Lochridge had stolen and made her written report. (R. 2057, 64, 67, 91). Grimes claims to have compiled the list herself by just looking around. (R. 67). The list admittedly includes some items that were returned. (R. 67). According to Grimes, she was not providing a list of items that belonged to Pioneer Hospital that were taken. "I provided them a list, as they indicated for me to do, of anything that was taken from the property. An abbreviated – they asked me to provide an abbreviated list of items that were visibly taken from the property." (R. 67). The police officers involved dispute Grimes' version of events. Officer Griffin said that he told Grimes to make an inventory. He would have asked Grimes to list everything that was taken and would never have told her to make an "abbreviated" list. (R. 2053, 2054, 2055). Grimes was asked to make a list of only items that belonged to the hospital and were taken by Lochridge. (R. 143).

Fontaine practically admitted a lack of investigation in determining whether the items belonged to the hospital or if they, in fact, belonged to Lochridge. (R. 1947). The only

"investigation" of which Fontaine was aware was that Grimes made a list of items taken. (R. 1946). Grimes testified that she did not designate on the list which items belonged to Lochridge and which belonged to the hospital. (R. 71). In fact, Grimes testified that she had no knowledge of whether anything on the list she created was actually paid for by the hospital. (R. 77). Grimes admitted that she did not know which of the items belonged to Lochridge. (R. 71). When asked what steps she had taken to ascertain if any of these items actually belonged to the hospital or not, Grimes avoided the question by saying, "I knew some of the items were purchased with donated funds. There was no way it was all her property." (R. 67).

Grimes admitted that Lochridge had told her that she bought the gazebo and that Lochridge had come to her a number of times trying to get maintenance to erect it on the property. (R. 72). Grimes also claims, however, that the gazebo, patio set, and piano were bought with donated money. (R. 71). There was no evidence, however, that the items listed were on the donated property list. There was a file in which Lochridge kept track items that had been donated, as well as a file with copies of reimbursement forms and receipts for items which Lochridge purchased and for which she was reimbursed. Lochridge did not take those files. (R. 119). Grimes claims that the files are missing. (R. 71). However, Grimes also was unable to recall whether or not she had removed from Lochridge's office a file containing copies of reimbursement forms and receipts. (R. 74-75).

As to the fax machine, Grimes admits that Lochridge told her that she bought the fax machine when the previous director would not buy one. (R. 71). In fact, Lochridge did purchase the fax on her own. (R. 2011). One of the many memos by which Lochridge kept Grimes informed of what was going on at the facility specifically mentions that the old fax machine could not be fixed, that it was replaced with an old one that did not work and that, because the facility needed one, Lochridge eventually bought one herself, which was the one in use at the time of Lochridge's termination. (R.

00224710,WPD 11

77, 100-101). Grimes never admitted to the police or to Fontaine that she knew at least one of the items of property she identified as being stolen by Lochridge was actually owed by Lochridge. (R. 1947).

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