SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

LINDA W. LOCHRIDGE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-01529

PIONEER HEALTH SERVICES OF MONROE COUNTY, INC.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi

Oral Argument NOT Requested

Attorneys for Appellee Pioneer Health Services of Monroe County, Inc.

J. TUCKER MITCHELL (MSB MATTHEW T. BIGGERS (MSB # MITCHELL DAY, PLLC 618 Crescent Boulevard, Suite 203 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone: (601) 707-4036 Facsimile: (601) 213-4116

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Monroe County properly granted summary judgment in favor of Pioneer on Lochridge's malicious prosecution claim. Malicious prosecution claims are not favored under the law and must be managed with great caution. To succeed on a claim for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must prove all six elements of the tort by a preponderance of the evidence. Pioneer has shown that Lochridge has not and cannot prove the essential elements of malice and lack of probable cause in initiating the criminal proceedings against Lochridge.

The "malice" required to prove malicious prosecution exists when the primary purpose for initiating criminal proceedings is one other than bringing an offender to justice. A person may file a criminal complaint so long as he does so for a legitimate purpose and with a reasonable belief that the person against whom criminal charges are initiated may be guilty of the offense with which he is charged. In the instant case, there is no evidence of malice on the part of Pioneer. Lochridge's argument that Pioneer had some retaliatory objective in initiating criminal proceedings against her is merely an allegation without evidentiary support, as noted by the trial court. Pioneer's objective in initiating legal proceedings against Lochridge was to bring her to justice for taking property that belonged to Pioneer. Pioneer had sufficient believable information that Lochridge took items that belonged to Pioneer. Although Lochridge disputes that any of the property she removed belonged to Pioneer, items that Plaintiff turned over to APD on May 9, 2007 included patient information, inservice materials, marketing materials, and numerous other items that were undisputedly property of Pioneer.

Lochridge's claim for malicious prosecution also fails because Pioneer has shown that it had probable cause for initiating criminal proceedings against Lochridge. To determine the existence of want of probable cause, courts look to (1) a subjective element - an honest belief in the guilt of

the person accused, and (2) an objective element - reasonable grounds for such belief. Pioneer had an honest belief that Lochridge unlawfully removed items exclusive to and belonging to Pioneer from Pioneer's facility because Lochridge informed Pioneer through Grimes on the night of May 4, 2007 that Lochridge had returned to the facility and removed items. Lochridge had turned over her key to the facility earlier in the day when Pioneer laid her off. Pioneer also had reasonable grounds to believe Lochridge was guilty because Lochridge returned some of the items she removed from the facility on the night of May 4, 2007 and because additional Pioneer property was discovered to be in the possession of Lochridge when she turned herself in to APD on May 9, 2007. Pioneer did not control the specific charges pursued by APD and the Monroe County district attorney. Regardless of the specific charges pursued, Pioneer was justified in initiating criminal proceedings against Lochridge based on Lochridge's removal of Pioneer's property from the facility on the night of May 4, 2007. The district attorney presented evidence to the grand jury, and the grand jury felt there was probable cause to bring charges of burglary against Lochridge, as it issued an indictment of her. Lochridge cannot show circumstances from which absence of probable cause may be inferred. Therefore, she cannot establish an essential element of her claim for malicious prosecution, the lack of probable cause in instituting the proceedings.

The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Pioneer due to the inability of Lochridge to establish that Pioneer acted with malice and without probable cause in initiating criminal proceedings against Lochridge. This Court should affirm that grant of summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING LOCHRIDGE'S MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIM.

Lochridge's claim for malicious prosecution fails. Malicious prosecution claims are not favored under the law and must be managed with great caution. *Croft v. Grand Casino Tunica, Inc.*, 910 So. 2d 66, 72 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing *State ex rel. Foster v. Turner*, 319 So. 2d 233, 235 (Miss. 1975)). To succeed on a claim for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must prove the following elements by a preponderance of the evidence:

- (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings, either criminal or civil;
- (2) by, or at the insistence of, the defendants;
- (3) the termination of such proceedings in the plaintiff's favor;
- (4) malice in instituting the proceeding;
- (5) want of probable cause for the proceedings; and
- (6) the suffering of injury or damages as a result of the action or prosecution.

Perkins v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 46 So. 3d 839, 844 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010); Richard v. Supervalu, Inc., 974 So. 2d 944, 948-49 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing Alpha Gulf Coast, Inc. v. Jackson, 801 So. 2d 709, 721 (Miss. 2001)); Strong v. Nicholson, 580 So. 2d 1288, 1293 (Miss. 1991). "The failure to prove any one of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence is fatal to the claim." Perkins, 46 So. 3d at 845. Lochridge cannot prove the elements of malice and want of probable cause in the instant case.

A. Pioneer lacked malice in instituting legal proceedings against Lochridge.

Pioneer has shown that Lochridge could offer no proof that Pioneer acted with malice in instituting legal proceedings against her. Plaintiff simply alleged that Pioneer initiated criminal proceedings as some sort of "retaliation" against her. "The malice required for malicious prosecution occurs when the primary purpose of prosecuting is one other than bringing an offender

to justice." *Id.* "Malice does not refer to mean or evil intent, as a layman might ordinarily think.

... It connotes a prosecution instituted primarily for a purpose other than bringing an offender to justice." *Strong*, 580 So. 2d at 1293. "A citizen may file a criminal complaint as long as he acts either in good faith, i.e., for a legitimate purpose or with reasonable ground to believe that the person against whom proceedings are initiated may be guilty of the offense of which he is charged." *Perkins*, 46 So. 3d at 845.

In *Perkins*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals found that Wal-Mart lacked malice in instituting criminal proceedings for petit larceny against Perkins where Wal-Mart alleged Perkins had taken a printer ink cartridge without paying for it as part of an "under-ringing" scheme. *Perkins*, 46 So. 3d 839. At that time, some cashiers at Wal-Mart were involved in an "under-ringing" scheme in which they would either fail to ring up an item or ring up an item and subsequently void the transaction, allowing a customer, usually a friend or co-worker, to take the item without paying for it. *Id.* at 842. Perkins, an off-duty Holly Springs police officer, went to Wal-Mart to make some purchases, including a printer ink cartridge. *Id.* Jackson, the cashier serving Perkins, rang up and then voided Perkins' purchase of the printer ink cartridge, and Perkins left the store without paying for it. *Id.* Wal-Mart learned of the scheme, and its loss-prevention officer interviewed Jackson about her involvement. *Id.* Jackson admitted to her involvement and named Perkins as also being involved.

Wal-Mart notified the Holly Springs Police Department, and Officer Wilson interviewed Jackson. *Perkins*, 46 So. 3d at 842. During that interview, Jackson stated that Perkins knew he did not pay for the printer ink cartridge. *Id.* Officer Wilson informed Wal-Mart's loss-prevention officer of this information. *Id.* The loss-prevention officer then filed an affidavit against Perkins. *Id.* The Marshall County Justice Court acquitted Perkins of the petit larceny charges during his criminal trial

on January 23, 2006. *Id.* at 843. Perkins and Officer Wilson were co-workers at the Holly Springs Police Department, and the two had a strained relationship which caused Perkins to be reassigned, relieved of supervisory duties, and suspended for a period of time. *Id.* Perkins filed suit against Wal-Mart and Officer Wilson on December 14, 2006, alleging malicious prosecution, among other claims. *Perkins*, 46 So. 3d at 843-44. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of both defendants based on a lack of malice. *Id.* at 844.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment as to Wal-Mart, holding that Wal-Mart acted without malice. *Id.* at 846. The Court of Appeals found that Wal-Mart believed it had sufficient evidence to prosecute Perkins based on Jackson's recorded statement, the loss-prevention officer's affidavit, and Jackson's testimony that Perkins knew he did not pay for the printer ink cartridge based on the amount of change he received. *Id.* at 845.

In George v. W.W.D. Automobiles, Inc., 937 So. 2d 958 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), the plaintiff, George, visited Tom Wadler Nissan to purchase a vehicle. Id. at 960. Pending approval of her financing/credit application, the plaintiff took possession of a vehicle under a conditional delivery agreement. Id. The plaintiff's financing was rejected, and the dealership informed her of the rejection and requested numerous times for her to return the vehicle pursuant to the conditional delivery agreement. Id. George refused to return the vehicle, and the dealership instituted criminal proceedings against her, charging her with unauthorized use of a vehicle. Id. The plaintiff was arrested, but the criminal case against her was dismissed when the court determined the alleged offense was a civil matter rather than a criminal case. Id. George brought suit against the dealership for malicious prosecution.

The Court of Appeals found that a jury could easily have found malice on the part of the dealership because the dealership's general manager testified that the sole objective of the initiation

of criminal proceedings against George was for the dealership to regain possession of the vehicle rather than bringing George to justice. *George*, 937 So. 2d at 962-963; *see also Strong*, 580 So. 2d at 1293 (finding malice where defendants' lone purpose was to "get their stuff back"). The court found further evidence of the dealership's objective when it dropped charges against George upon regaining possession of the vehicle. *George*, 937 So. 2d at 963.

In the instant case, there is no evidence of malice on the part of Pioneer. Pioneer's objective in initiating legal proceedings against Lochridge was to bring her to justice for taking property that belonged to Pioneer. Like Wal-Mart in *Perkins*, Pioneer had sufficient believable information that Lochridge took items that belonged to Pioneer. Lochridge returned to the facility at night after being laid off and turning in her keys to the facility. (R. at 113). Lochridge used a key that did not belong to her to open a locked office and remove Pioneer property (R. at 113) and had a former co-worker use an electric screwdriver to remove a gazebo that was affixed to a concrete patio with screws. (R. at 120).

Regardless of who purchased the gazebo, it became a fixture and therefore part of the real estate owned by Pioneer when the gazebo was attached to the patio. A fixture is something which is affixed or attached as a permanent appendage or structural part of the land. *Ziller v. Atkins Motel Co., Inc.*, 244 So. 2d 409, 411 (Miss. 1971); *see also Check Cashers Exp., Inc. v. Crowell*, 950 So. 2d 1035, 1040 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (stating that a fixture is "an article in the nature of personal property which has been so annexed to the realty that it is regarded as a part of the real property"). "A fixture was originally personal property, but by reason of its annexation to or use in association with real property has become part of the realty as by means of concrete, plaster, nails, bolts, or screws." *Ziller*, 244 So. 2d at 411; *see also Check Cashers*, 950 So. 2d at 1040 ("A thing is deemed to be affixed to real property when it is permanently attached to what is thus permanent, as by means

of cement, plaster, nails, bolts, or screws."). To determine if an item is a fixture, a court must take into account:

its nature, mode of attachment, purpose for which used, and the relation of the party making the annexation. . . . In some instances the intention to make the article a fixture may clearly appear from the mode of attachment alone, as where a removal cannot be made without serious injury to the property by the act of severance.

Check Cashers, 950 So. 2d at 1040-41 (quoting Weathersby v. Sleeper, 42 Miss. 732, 741-42 (1869). When the gazebo was attached to Pioneer's patio with screws and when the gazebo was used in association with the real property at Pioneer's assisted living facility, under Mississippi law the gazebo became a part of Pioneer's real property. Lochridge undisputedly removed the gazebo on the night of May 4, 2007, taking away Pioneer's property.

Pioneer's actions in instituting criminal proceedings against Lochridge were based upon information received from Lochridge and Pioneer employee Ollie Burroughs along with Grimes' subsequent inventory. (R. at 61-62). Pioneer shared that information with APD Major Shumpert, who then filed a General Affidavit against Lochridge, charging her with burglary. (R. at 134). Further, Lochridge admitted that she entered onto Pioneer's premises after being laid off and turning in her keys and removed property from the premises. (R. at 113-114). Although Lochridge disputes that any of the property she removed belonged to Pioneer, items that Plaintiff turned over to APD on May 9, 2007 included patient information, in-service materials, marketing materials, and numerous other items that were undisputedly property of Pioneer. (R. at 985-1738). Further, the gazebo removed by or at the direction of Lochridge became Pioneer's property when it was affixed with screws to the patio at Pioneer's facility.

Lochridge argues that there was no evidence for a charge of burglary and that there was no rational reason to believe there might have been. Appellant's Br. at 21. Pioneer not only had a

reasonable basis to believe Lochridge removed patient files, in-service materials, marketing materials, a Rolodex containing phone numbers used for Pioneer's business purposes, and the gazebo from the facility; it is undisputed that Lochridge did in fact remove those items from the facility. Pioneer contacted APD regarding Lochridge's removal of Pioneer property from the facility, and initiated criminal proceedings against Lochridge in good faith to bring her to justice.

Pioneer's purpose in initiating legal proceedings against Lochridge was not simply to get the items back from Lochridge, as was the case in *George* and in *Strong*. Further, Pioneer only stated it did not wish to pursue criminal charges against Lochridge after the district attorney presented Pioneer with the option of retiring the case to the files. (R. at 69; R. at 170).

Lochridge cannot show that Pioneer initiated criminal proceedings against her with malice, i.e. for a purpose other than bringing her to justice. Lochridge's argument that Pioneer brought charges against her as a form of retaliation are simply allegations and are without evidentiary support, as the trial court noted in its August 31, 2011 Order granting summary judgment in favor of Pioneer. (R. at 2092). Therefore, Lochridge cannot establish an essential element of her claim for malicious prosecution, and Pioneer is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Lochridge's malicious prosecution claim.

B. Pioneer had probable cause to initiate legal proceedings against Lochridge.

Lochridge's claim for malicious prosecution also fails because Pioneer has shown that it had probable cause for initiating criminal proceedings against Lochridge. "Probable cause is determined from the facts apparent to the observer when the prosecution is initiated." *Van v. Grand Casinos of Miss., Inc.*, 767 So. 2d 1014, 1020 (Miss. 2000); *Richard*, 974 So. 2d at 949. "To determine the existence of want of probable cause, courts look to (1) a subjective element - an honest belief in the guilt of the person accused, and (2) an objective element - reasonable grounds for such belief." *Page*

v. Wiggins, 595 So. 2d 1291, 1294 (Miss. 1992); Strong, 580 So. 2d at 1294. "So long as the instigator of the action reasonably believed he had a good chance of establishing his case to the satisfaction of the court or the jury, he is said to have had probable cause." Richard, 974 So. 2d at 949. A claim for malicious prosecution fails when probable cause exists for the defendant to institute criminal proceedings. Van, 767 So. 2d at 1020.

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